Muscle area loss in critically ill COVID-19

patients during the first two weeks of ICU

admission

Author: Thio BJ - 5622689 Date: 14-01-2024 Supervisors Amsterdam UMC: dr. S.N. Stapel & I.M. van Ruijven (PhD candidate) Supervisor UMC Utrecht: Prof. dr. A.N. Bovenschen Amsterdam UMC, location VUmc, Intensive Care Word count: 3540

Abstract

Introduction

Critically ill patients commonly experience significant muscle area loss, up to around 18% within ten days. The dynamics of muscle area changes during ICU stays and after discharge in COVID-19 patients are not well understood, and conventional risk factors may vary in this population.

Methods

In this retrospective Dutch cohort study at Amsterdam University Medical Centre, individuals diagnosed with COVID-19 from March 2020 to April 2022 were enrolled from the Amsterdam UMC COVID-19 Biobank. Muscle area at level Th12 was measured using thoracic CT scans conducted due to evolving COVID-19 understanding. A multiple regression analysis in SPSS with key variables (sex, age, BMI category, APACHE IV score) explored associations with muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission.

Results

The study included 34 patients; 26.5% were female. Body weight distribution: 2.9% underweight, 32.4% normal weight, 47.1% overweight, and 17.6% obese. Average age at ICU admission was 61.9 years (SD 11.7). Mean muscle area at admission was 93.3 cm² (SD 18.9), with an average loss of 10.3 cm² (SD 6.68) during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission, representing 11.0% reduction. All four variables added not statistically significantly to the prediction (p = 0.360). None of the four variables significantly predicted muscle area loss, p < 0.05.

Conclusion

Critically ill COVID-19 patients suffer muscle wasting and have a mean muscle area loss of 10.3 cm² during the first two weeks of ICU admission, representing 11.0% reduction. This study found no statistically significant predictions of muscle area loss during the first two weeks of ICU admission based on sex, age, BMI category or APACHE IV score.

Keywords

Muscle area loss, COVID-19, intensive care unit, critically ill, sex, age, BMI, APACHE IV.

Words: 266

Table of contents

1. Introduction
2. Methods5
2.1 Subjects5
2.2 Design5
2.3 Measurements5
2.4 Statistical analysis6
3. Results7
3.1 Inclusion of patients7
3.2 Patient characteristics
3.21 Muscle area loss
3.4 Analysis
3.41 Multiple regression
3.42 APACHE IV score 10
4. Discussion
5. References
6. Appendix
Appendix A: Sample size determination and power calculation
Appendix B: Box and scatter plots for each variable, conducted in SPSS (27)

1. Introduction

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) can result in hypoxemic respiratory failure and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). ARDS is frequently complicated by prolonged mechanical ventilation and intensive care unit (ICU)-acquired weakness (ICU-AW), which is characterized by severe muscle wasting (1–3). Critically ill patients often experience a substantial loss in muscle area, reaching up to approximately 18% within a ten-day period (1,4,5). Patients with a reduced muscle area upon admission have a higher risk of complications, including extended weaning from invasive mechanical ventilation, prolonged ICU stay and increased mortality (6–8).

Computed tomography (CT) scans are used to measure body components through the segmentation of CT images by using segmentation tools (7,9,10). The increase in the use of CT scans for regularly examination of COVID-19 patients, as suggested by global guidelines (11,12), has made it possible to monitor skeletal muscle area. Existing literature indicates that L3 is the optimal vertebral level for evaluating total skeletal muscle mass (13,14). However, in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, thoracic CT scans have been employed to monitor disease progression (11,15). Notably, literature suggests that Th12 serves as a feasible alternative for measuring skeletal muscle area (16,17).

Several risk factors contribute to muscle area loss in general ICU cases. These encompass age, weight, comorbidities, illness severity, organ failure, drug exposure and immobility (1,18). Notably, the association between Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE) score and ICU-induced muscle area loss suggests that the severity of illness, as assessed by the APACHE II score, is closely linked to the overall physiological stress experienced by patients in the ICU (19). Currently, there is a more recent derivative of the APACHE II score known as the APACHE IV score (20). Additionally, De Jonghe et al. found that being female independently predicts ICU-acquired paresis, but the reasons for this are unclear (21). It could be due to physiological differences in body composition, muscle strength, and energy metabolism (22,23). Weijs et al. suggests that a higher BMI is resulting in lower mortality in ICU ventilated patients (7), also known as the obesity paradox (24). Conversely, Sprockel Díaz et al. demonstrated that there is not an association between obesity and risk of inpatients transfer to intensive care or death of ICU patients due to COVID-19 (25).

In the context of COVID-19, the risk factors for muscle area loss include pre-existing health conditions, sepsis, organ failure, mechanical ventilation, immobilization, neuromuscular blockade, corticosteroid administration and glycaemic control (3,26). The alterations of muscle area during ICU stays and post-ICU discharge in COVID-19 patients remain poorly understood, and conventional risk factors may manifest differently in this specific patient population.

A investigation into alterations in skeletal muscle area in COVID-19 patients within the ICU becomes important to potentially predict higher risk of complications, including extended weaning from invasive mechanical ventilation, prolonged ICU stay and increased mortality. The aim of this retrospective cohort study is to understand the demographic characteristics and explore how sex, age, BMI category and APACHE IV score are related to changes in skeletal muscle area during the first two weeks of ICU admission for critically ill COVID-19 patients.

2. Methods

2.1 Subjects

In this retrospective Dutch cohort study, conducted at a single centre, critically ill patients diagnosed with COVID-19 and admitted to the Amsterdam University Medical Centre, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, within the period from March 2020 to April 2022, were enrolled from the Amsterdam UMC COVID-19 Biobank.

A total of 277 patients were selected for this study. Inclusion criteria encompassed confirmed COVID-19 infection through polymerase chain reaction, an age of 18 years or older, ICU admission, a minimum of 48 hours of invasive ventilation, and the availability of at least two thoracic CT scans during the hospitalization, with a time gap of at least five days between scans.

A predetermined subset of patients was identified for this current investigation. The criteria for inclusion in this subgroup were as follows: the initial thoracic CT scan conducted within 0–4 days after admission to the ICU, coupled with a subsequent CT scan performed during 10–18 days after the first scan. The flowchart detailing patient inclusions is available in Figure 1.

2.2 Design

Patient data were extracted from an existing directory structure by one investigator. The raw data was initially acquired by one of the supervisors and certain modifications were implemented during the analysis to rectify inaccuracies, as documented in the syntax.

Th12, located closest to the more common L3 assessment method, provides a measure of the skeletal muscle area by analysing cross-sectional images featuring both transverse processes. In this study, the muscle area at level Th12 was used, because there were no abdominal CT scans available. Thoracic CT scans were conducted during that timeframe, for clinical reasons to monitor the evolution of COVID-19 in the lungs.

The required sample size was determined through estimation, aiming for a statistical power of 0.80, necessitating the inclusion of 83 patients. The power of this study was 0.35. The sample size determination and power calculation can be found in Appendix A.

The study does not adhere to the regulations outlined in the Medical Research Involving Human Subjects Act (WMO). The relevant committee approved that this study is a non-WMO required study.

2.3 Measurements

This study outlined four variables, namely: sex, age (in years), BMI category (categorized into four groups: < 18.5, 18.5-25.0, 25.1-30.0, > 30.0 in kilograms per m²) and APACHE IV score to quantify illness severity. The main outcome was the measurement of muscle area at the level of Th12 in cm². Muscle area quantification in cm² was executed by a sole radiologist with experience in this method.

2.4 Statistical analysis

Temporal gaps between CT scans were computed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 28.0.1.1 (SPSS) (27) through the 'Date and Time wizard'. The initial CT scan occurred within 0–4 days following admission to the ICU, with subsequent scans taking place during the first 10–18 days after the first CT scan. RStudio version 4.2.1 (28) was employed to code BMI and APACHE IV score. Values closest to the ICU admission date were chosen.

In SPSS (27), the descriptive statistics were used to compute the variables: sex, age, BMI category, APACHE IV score and muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission. For continuous variables, mean values with standard deviation were calculated. The decision to utilize mean values is informed by the sample size of 34 patients. In smaller samples, the median is often considered due to its resistance to extreme values. However, in this case, the mean is chosen to provide a more informative measure of central tendency (29). Age and BMI category, being ordinal variables, are presented using percentages in Table 1. Quantitative variables are presented as means ± standard deviation (SD). Notably, the dataset exhibited no missing data or dropouts.

To explore potential associations among key variables—sex, age, BMI category, APACHE IV score—with muscle area loss among COVID-19 patients 10–18 days post-ICU admission, a multiple regression analysis was performed using SPSS (27). The value of p < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. The validity of the model was contingent upon meeting all eight assumptions outlined below, ensuring robustness in the interpretation of the data (30).

The analysis adheres to the first assumption, as the variable 'muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission' is established as dependent. The second assumption is also met, given the presence of two or more independent variables in the dataset, comprising both continuous (age and APACHE IV score) and ordinal (sex and BMI category) variables.

The third assumption is met by ensuring the independence of observations, validated through the Durbin-Watson statistic (2.280) in SPSS (27). The fourth assumption is fulfilled due to the presence of both a linear relationship between the dependent variable and each independent variable, as well as a collective linear relationship between the dependent variable and the set of independent variables.

Homoscedasticity is confirmed by the White test (p = 0.699) in SPSS (27), meeting the criteria for the fifth assumption. The sixth assumption is met, as there is no evidence of multicollinearity in the data. The seventh assumption is met, as no significant outliers, high leverage points or highly influential points were identified.

Lastly, a normal P-P plot meets the eighth and final assumption, confirming that the residuals (errors) are normally distributed. Collectively, these assessments contribute to the robustness and validity of the multiple regression analysis.

3. Results



Figure 1: Flowchart of inclusion of patients.

3.1 Inclusion of patients

Figure 1 presents a comprehensive flowchart illustrating the patient inclusion process. A total of 277 patients meeting the specified inclusion criteria were identified from the Amsterdam UMC COVID-19 Biobank. Subsequently, a subset of 128 patients was selected based on a time interval between ICU admission and the first CT scan, falling within the 0–4 days range. Ultimately, 34 patients were included in the study, as this subgroup underwent a subsequent CT scan during the first 10–18 days after the initial scan.

Clinical feature	Total (n = 34)	n (%)	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard deviation
Sex						
	Female	9 (26.5)				
	Male	25 (73.5)				
Age (years)			27	78	61.9	11.7
Height (cm)			160	190	176.0	8.08
Weight (kg)			46.3	115.0	83.3	11.8
BMI (kg/m ²)			17.2	37.3	26.9	3.54
BMI category (kg/m ²)						
	Underweight (< 18.5)	1 (2.9)				
	Normal weight (18.5-25.0)	11 (32.4)				
	Overweight (25.1-30.0)	16 (47.1)				
	Obese (> 30.0)	6 (17.6)				
APACHE IV score			27	111	64.8	18.6
Muscle area at admission (cm ²)			55.8	131.6	93.3	18.9
Muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission (cm ²)			-3.8	19.9	10.3	6.68



Figure 2: Example of a segmented CT image at the level of thoracic vertebra 12. Segmented tissues are coded with different colours: subcutaneous fat = green, skeletal muscle = blue/purple, intermuscular adipose tissue = yellow.

3.2 Patient characteristics

Table 1 presents the demographic characteristics of the 34 COVID-19 patients included in the study. Among them, nine patients (26.5%) were female. The distribution of body weight categories among the patients was as follows: one patient with underweight (2.9%), 11 patients with normal weight (32.4%), 16 patients with overweight (47.1%), and six patients with obesity (17.6%). The average age at ICU admission was 61.9 years (SD 11.7).

3.21 Muscle area loss

The mean muscle area upon ICU admission measured 93.3 cm² (SD 18.9), with an average loss of 10.3 cm² (SD 6.68) during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission, representing an 11.0% reduction. Both are shown in Table 1. Figure 2 shows an example of a segmented CT image at the level of Th12.

3.4 Analysis

Model	Unstandardized B	Coefficients Std. Error	Sig.
(Constant)	15.7	9.739	0.118
Sex	0.635	2.620	0.810
Age (years)	-0.171	0.100	0.097
BMI category (kg/m ²)	0.250	1.531	0.871
APACHE IV score	0.063	0.063	0.327

Table 2: Variables* table of the multiple regression.

*Dependent variable: Muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission (cm²).

3.41 Multiple regression

A multiple regression was run to predict muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission from sex, age, BMI category and APACHE IV score. All variables are shown in Table 2. All four variables added not statistically significantly to the prediction (p = 0.360). None of the four variables significantly predicted muscle area loss, p < 0.05. Unstandardized B can be used to establish a formula to predict muscle area loss.

3.42 APACHE IV score

Figure 3 shows a scatter plot describing muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission (cm²) by APACHE IV score. The other scatter plots for each variable can be found in Appendix B.



Figure 3: Scatter plot of muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission (cm²) by APACHE IV score at admission. The line is illustrated, but lacks statistical significance, excluding its validity or meaningful interpretation.

4. Discussion

The mean muscle area loss during the first two weeks of ICU admission was 10.3 cm² (SD 6.68), representing 11.0% reduction. All four variables (sex, age, BMI category, and APACHE IV score) did not demonstrate reliable predictors for muscle area loss during the first two weeks of ICU admission.

Conventional risk factors may manifest differently in the COVID-19 population. In contrast to Weijs et al.'s findings that females exhibited significantly lower muscle area, this study did not identify a significant difference in muscle area between females and males (7). In this study, only 9 female and 25 male patients were included, whereas Weijs et al. included 94 females and 146 male patients (7). The distribution between men and women in the original data (n = 277) was 85 women and 192 men (30.7% women and 69.3% men), indicating that the distribution in the ICU remains approximately comparable with this smaller study sample size. Due to the limited number of female patients in this study, it is challenging to definitively conclude that there is no significant difference in muscle area loss between women and men.

It is important to consider that both age and BMI are factors to account for when diagnosing low muscle area (31). In this study, age did not appear as a dependable predictive factor for muscle area loss. Although, age did have a p-value closest to p = 0.05 (p = 0.097). This implies that, with a larger sample size, age might emerge as a significant predictor of muscle area reduction, suggesting a propensity for increased muscle area loss with aging. De Hoogt et al. highlighted age as an independent predictor of in-hospital mortality (18). However, their investigation did not specifically explore the impact of age on muscle area loss.

A slight majority of the study population was overweight (47.1%). However, BMI category did not demonstrate statistical significance in predicting muscle area loss in this study. Notably, Sjögren et al. observed in a substantial cohort of Swedish ICU patients with COVID-19 that a high BMI was associated with an elevated risk of death and prolonged ICU stay (32). Conversely, Weijs et al. suggests that a higher BMI is resulting in lower mortality in ICU ventilated patients (7), while Sprockel Díaz et al. demonstrated that there is not an association between obesity and risk of inpatients transfer to intensive care or death of ICU patients due to COVID-19 (25). Stating that the literature has not reached a consensus on this matter and that this study also does not provide clarity due to the low sample size of patients and an inadequate distribution across various BMI categories. For example, there is only one patient in the underweight category. A more balanced distribution in each BMI category is necessary to gain better insights into this issue.

In this study, the APACHE IV score did not show statistical significance in predicting muscle area loss. It is worth noting that Yang et al. reported a significant association between muscle area loss in the ICU and the APACHE II score, and can be considered comparable to the newly derived APACHE IV score (19,33). In this study, comorbidities were not considered, which could potentially influence disease severity and consequently the APACHE IV score. Figure 3 shows a scatter plot describing muscle area loss by APACHE IV score. As this variable lacks statistical significance in the results, any interpretation of the scatterplot remains speculative. However, there appears to be a linear trend, suggesting that higher APACHE IV scores may correspond to increased muscle area loss. Additionally, due to the low sample size, clear implications cannot be firmly drawn. This speculation could be explored further in subsequent research with a larger sample size.

This study's strength lies in the well-fitted multiple regression analysis for the dataset, as all eight assumptions were met (30). The homogeneity of the group and the amount of available CT scans further contribute to the robustness of the data.

One limitation of this study is its low power (0.35), originating from the inclusion of only 34 patients meeting the specified criteria. The initial power analysis, outlined in Appendix A, had calculated a requirement of 83 patients for achieving a power of 0.80. The limited number of patients could potentially explain why none of the variables reached statistical significance in predicting muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission. As a retrospective study relying on pre-existing data, conducting a prospective study with a second CT scan for each patient at 14 days post-ICU admission would enhance the robustness of the findings. While Núñez-Seisdedos et al. and Schmidt et al. conducted a prospective cohort study, considered an ideal approach, their investigation explored other variables, including the use and duration of neuromuscular blockers, the duration of mechanical ventilation, and the administration to define skeletal muscle area as in this study, but instead focused solely on ICU-AW through bedside manual muscle testing (34,35).

Additionally, this study did not investigate other potential factors contributing to muscle area loss, such as the impact of corticosteroids, muscle relaxants, exercise or comorbidities. These variables could play a significant role in influencing muscle area loss (4,34,35). This can be investigated in future research.

In this study, only nine female patients (26.5%) were included. This sample size of included female patients may not adequately reflect the potential differences between females and males, as Weijs et al. showed with 94 female and 146 male patients included in their study (7). With a larger sample of female patients in this study, it becomes easier to determine if there is a potential difference in muscle area loss between women and men. This study acknowledges a limitation in this regard. If future research utilizes similar methods, it is advisable to strive for more balanced sex groups to enhance the quality of the study. Handling this challenge is crucial, because studies show COVID-19 is more severe in men than women (36).

Collaborative efforts across various university medical centres to establish a shared dataset would strengthen the robustness of future investigations. Additionally, ensuring a wellbalanced distribution of variables such as sex, age, BMI category, and APACHE IV score is crucial. Subsequent research could explore comorbidities, corticosteroid use, muscle relaxants, and the duration of mechanical ventilation, with a prospective design being the optimal approach for more accurately predicting the amount of muscle area loss in critically ill COVID-19 patients. In future studies, there exists an opportunity for in exploration into potential mechanisms contributing to muscle area loss. This prospect is highlighted by a recent publication in *Nature Communications* by Appelman et al., which reported the possible mechanism underlying the long COVID related muscle wasting (37).

Critically ill COVID-19 patients suffer muscle wasting and have a mean muscle area loss of 10.3 cm² during the first two weeks of ICU admission, representing 11.0% reduction. This study found no statistically significant predictions of muscle area loss during the first two weeks of ICU admission based on sex, age, BMI category or APACHE IV score.

5. References

- 1. Vanhorebeek I, Latronico N, Van den Berghe G. ICU-acquired weakness. Intensive Care Med. 2020;46(4):637–53.
- Herridge MS, Tansey CM, Matté A, Tomlinson G, Diaz-Granados N, Cooper A, et al. Functional disability 5 years after acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2011 Apr 7;364(14):1293–304.
- 3. Qin ES, Hough CL, Andrews J, Bunnell AE. Intensive care unit-acquired weakness and the COVID-19 pandemic: A clinical review. PM R. 2022 Feb;14(2):227–38.
- 4. Puthucheary ZA, Rawal J, McPhail M, Connolly B, Ratnayake G, Chan P, et al. Acute skeletal muscle wasting in critical illness. JAMA. 2013 Oct 16;310(15):1591–600.
- 5. Fazzini B, Märkl T, Costas C, Blobner M, Schaller SJ, Prowle J, et al. The rate and assessment of muscle wasting during critical illness: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Crit Care Lond Engl. 2023 Jan 3;27(1):2.
- 6. Taylor C. Intensive care unit acquired weakness. Anaesth Intensive Care Med. 2021 Feb 1;22(2):81–4.
- 7. Weijs PJM, Looijaard WGPM, Dekker IM, Stapel SN, Girbes AR, Oudemans-van Straaten HM, et al. Low skeletal muscle area is a risk factor for mortality in mechanically ventilated critically ill patients. Crit Care Lond Engl. 2014 Jan 13;18(2):R12.
- 8. Viddeleer AR, Raaphorst J, Min M, Beenen LFM, Scheerder MJ, Vlaar APJ, et al. Intramuscular adipose tissue at level Th12 is associated with survival in COVID-19. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2021 May 3;12(3):823–7.
- 9. Toledo DO, Carvalho AM, Oliveira AMRR, Toloi JM, Silva AC, Francisco de Mattos Farah J, et al. The use of computed tomography images as a prognostic marker in critically ill cancer patients. Clin Nutr ESPEN. 2018 Jun;25:114–20.
- 10. Looijaard WGPM, Molinger J, Weijs PJM. Measuring and monitoring lean body mass in critical illness. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2018 Aug;24(4):241–7.
- Rubin GD, Ryerson CJ, Haramati LB, Sverzellati N, Kanne JP, Raoof S, et al. The Role of Chest Imaging in Patient Management During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Multinational Consensus Statement From the Fleischner Society. Chest. 2020 Jul;158(1):106–16.
- 12. Giraudo C, Librizzi G, Fichera G, Motta R, Balestro E, Calabrese F, et al. Reduced muscle mass as predictor of intensive care unit hospitalization in COVID-19 patients. PLoS ONE. 2021 Jun 17;16(6):e0253433.
- 13. Kolck J, Rako ZA, Beetz NL, Auer TA, Segger LK, Pille C, et al. Intermittent body composition analysis as monitoring tool for muscle wasting in critically ill COVID-19 patients. Ann Intensive Care. 2023 Jul 8;13:61.
- 14. Beetz NL, Maier C, Segger L, Shnayien S, Trippel TD, Lindow N, et al. First PACSintegrated artificial intelligence-based software tool for rapid and fully automatic analysis of body composition from CT in clinical routine. JCSM Clin Rep. 2022;7(1):3–11.

- Parekh M, Donuru A, Balasubramanya R, Kapur S. Review of the Chest CT Differential Diagnosis of Ground-Glass Opacities in the COVID Era. Radiology. 2020 Dec;297(3):E289–302.
- Van den Broeck J, Sealy MJ, Brussaard C, Kooijman J, Jager-Wittenaar H, Scafoglieri A. The correlation of muscle quantity and quality between all vertebra levels and level L3, measured with CT: An exploratory study. Front Nutr. 2023;10:1148809.
- Brath MSG, Sahakyan M, Mark EB, Frøkjær JB, Rasmussen HH, Østergaard LR, et al. Association between thoracic and third lumbar CT-derived muscle mass and density in Caucasian patients without chronic disease: a proof-of-concept study. Eur Radiol Exp. 2023 May 29;7(1):26.
- de Hoogt PA, Reisinger KW, Tegels JJW, Bosmans JW a. M, Tijssen F, Stoot JHMB. Functional Compromise Cohort Study (FCCS): Sarcopenia is a Strong Predictor of Mortality in the Intensive Care Unit. World J Surg. 2018 Jun;42(6):1733–41.
- 19. Yang T, Li Z, Jiang L, Wang Y, Xi X. Risk factors for intensive care unit-acquired weakness: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Neurol Scand. 2018 Aug;138(2):104–14.
- 20. Apache IV Score [Internet]. [cited 2023 Dec 20]. Available from: https://intensivecarenetwork.com/Calculators/Files/Apache4.html
- 21. De Jonghe B, Sharshar T, Lefaucheur JP, Authier FJ, Durand-Zaleski I, Boussarsar M, et al. Paresis acquired in the intensive care unit: a prospective multicenter study. JAMA. 2002 Dec 11;288(22):2859–67.
- Kautzky-Willer A, Harreiter J, Pacini G. Sex and Gender Differences in Risk, Pathophysiology and Complications of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Endocr Rev. 2016 Jun;37(3):278–316.
- 23. Engelhardt LJ, Grunow JJ, Wollersheim T, Carbon NM, Balzer F, Spranger J, et al. Sex-Specific Aspects of Skeletal Muscle Metabolism in the Clinical Context of Intensive Care Unit-Acquired Weakness. J Clin Med. 2022 Feb 5;11(3):846.
- 24. Yao S, Zeng L, Wang F, Chen K. Obesity Paradox in Lung Diseases: What Explains It? Obes Facts. 2023;16(5):411–26.
- 25. Sprockel Díaz JJ, Coral Zuñiga VE, Angarita Gonzalez E, Tabares Rodríguez SC, Carrillo Ayerbe MP, Acuña Cortes IS, et al. Obesity and the obesity paradox in patients with severe COVID-19. Med Intensiva. 2023 Oct;47(10):565–74.
- 26. Levy D, Giannini M, Oulehri W, Riou M, Marcot C, Pizzimenti M, et al. Long Term Follow-Up of Sarcopenia and Malnutrition after Hospitalization for COVID-19 in Conventional or Intensive Care Units. Nutrients. 2022 Feb 21;14(4):912.
- 27. IBM Corp. Released 2021. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 28.0.1.1. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- 28. RStudio Team (2020). RStudio: Integrated Development for R. RStudio, PBC, Boston, MA URL http://www.rstudio.com/.

- 29. Khorana A, Pareek A, Ollivier M, Madjarova SJ, Kunze KN, Nwachukwu BU, et al. Choosing the appropriate measure of central tendency: mean, median, or mode? Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2023 Jan 1;31(1):12–5.
- 30. How to perform a Multiple Regression Analysis in SPSS Statistics | Laerd Statistics [Internet]. [cited 2023 Dec 19]. Available from: https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/multiple-regression-using-spss-statistics.php
- 31. Fischer A, Kiss N, Rudas VA, Nieding K, Veraar C, Timmermann I, et al. Prevalence of Low Muscle Mass in the Computed Tomography at the Third Lumbar Vertebra Level Depends on Chosen Cut-Off in 200 Hospitalised Patients—A Prospective Observational Trial. Nutrients. 2022 Aug 22;14(16):3446.
- 32. Sjögren L, Stenberg E, Thuccani M, Martikainen J, Rylander C, Wallenius V, et al. Impact of obesity on intensive care outcomes in patients with COVID-19 in Sweden—A cohort study. PLoS ONE. 2021 Oct 13;16(10):e0257891.
- Bloria SD, Chauhan R, Sarna R, Gombar S, Jindal S. Comparison of APACHE II and APACHE IV score as predictors of mortality in patients with septic shock in intensive care unit: A prospective observational study. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2023;39(3):355–9.
- 34. Núñez-Seisdedos MN, Lázaro-Navas I, López-González L, López-Aguilera L. Intensive Care Unit- Acquired Weakness and Hospital Functional Mobility Outcomes Following Invasive Mechanical Ventilation in Patients with COVID-19: A Single-Centre Prospective Cohort Study. J Intensive Care Med. 2022 Aug;37(8):1005–14.
- 35. Schmidt D, Piva TC, Glaeser SS, Piekala DM, Berto PP, Friedman G, et al. Intensive Care Unit-Acquired Weakness in Patients With COVID-19: Occurrence and Associated Factors. Phys Ther. 2022 May 5;102(5):pzac028.
- 36. Twitchell DK, Christensen MB, Hackett G, Morgentaler A, Saad F, Pastuszak AW. Examining Male Predominance of Severe COVID-19 Outcomes: A Systematic Review. Androgens. 2022 Jul 15;3(1):41–53.
- Appelman B, Charlton BT, Goulding RP, Kerkhoff TJ, Breedveld EA, Noort W, et al. Muscle abnormalities worsen after post-exertional malaise in long COVID. Nat Commun. 2024 Jan 4;15(1):1–15.
- 38. Linear regression power calculator [Internet]. [cited 2023 Dec 19]. Available from: https://www.statskingdom.com/33test_power_regression.html

6. Appendix

Table of contents

Appendix A: Sample size determination and power calculation Appendix B: Box and scatter plots for each variable, conducted in SPSS

Appendix A: Sample size determination and power calculation

In this study, statistical power calculations for the multiple regression analysis were conducted using a dedicated tool, specifically designed for linear regression and ANOVA (F distribution) (38). This tool assisted in determining the appropriate sample size considering factors such as the number of predictors and effect sizes.

Table A1: Illustrates the sample size determination, indicating that a sample size of 83	3
patients would be required to achieve a power of 0.80 (38).	

-		
Туре	Regression	Regression or ANOVA
α	0.05	Significant level (0-1), maximum chance allowed rejecting H_0 while H_0 is correct (Type 1 Error)
n:	83	The sample size
Predictors	4	The number of independent variables (X)
Effect size	Medium	Leave empty if you know the effect type and the
		effect size value
Effect type	f	The expected effect size – f or R-squared or η -
		squared
Effect size value	0.39	The expected effect that the test should detect
Digits	2	Amount of digits

The power would be 0.80 with an estimated sample size of 83 patients.

Table A2: Illustrates the power calculation for this study, indicating that this cohort with 34 patients achieves a power of 0.35 (38).

Туре	Regression	Regression or ANOVA
α	0.05	Significant level (0-1), maximum chance allowed
		rejecting H_0 while H_0 is correct (Type 1 Error)
n:	34	The sample size
Predictors	4	The number of independent variables (X)
Effect size	Medium	Leave empty if you know the effect type and the
		effect size value
Effect type	f	The expected effect size – f or R-squared or η -
		squared
Effect size value	0.39	The expected effect that the test should detect
Digits	2	Amount of digits

The power in this cohort study is 0.35 with a sample size of 34 patients.



Appendix B: Box and scatter plots for each variable, conducted in SPSS (27)

Figure A3: Simple boxplot of muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission (cm²) by sex.



Figure A4: Scatter plot of muscle area during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission (cm²) by age at admission (years).



Figure A5: Scatter plot of muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission (cm^2) by BMI at admission (kg/m^2) .



Figure A6: Simple boxplot of muscle area loss during the first 10–18 days of ICU admission (cm^2) by BMI category at admission (kg/m^2) .